
Date Published:3 December 2020     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 18 November 2020 at 1.30 pm

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be
viewed on the County Council website at
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies. 

Chair

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 12)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting on 23 September and 21 
October 2020.

Chair

4  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE 
UPDATE 

To receive a verbal update on the GEGJC meeting held earlier the same
day from the Chair, Cllr Patrick Molyneux.

Please refer to the published forward plan of the GEGJC to suggest any
items you may want to consider at a future meeting of the Scrutiny 
Committee.

Scrutiny members are invited to attend the GEGJC meeting in an observer
capacity. Please refer to the following link to view the agenda and
supporting documents for the GEGJC meeting:

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MI
d=9535&Ver=4

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux

5  WORK PLAN Cllr Kevin 
Cromwell

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=9535&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=9535&Ver=4


    

6  DISTRICT MEMBER FEEDBACK 

District representatives on the Committee are encouraged to use this 
standing item to feedback on key economic growth points/issues/actions 
from their respective councils.

7  MODERN METHODS OF HOUSING CONSTRUCTION (Pages 13 - 
28)

To consider a presentation from the Gloucestershire Housing and 
Community Partnership.

The County of Gloucestershire faces significant housing growth in the 
coming years to meet our need for new homes. Delivery of these new 
homes brings significant challenges and ‘modern methods of construction’ 
are likely to play an increasingly important part in the way our homes of 
the future are provided. It is claimed that the new methods of construction 
offer faster and possibly cheaper delivery of housing, but what does that 
mean for the different sectors of the housing market and are there 
economic benefits to be gained from the utilisation of these new methods 
of factory built homes. 

This item will look at modern methods of construction from the point of 
view of registered housing providers and the affordable housing sector.  

8  GFIRST LEP ITEM (Pages 29 - 36)

To receive an update on Gloucestershire’s Economy.

David Owen

INFORMATION ITEMS

9  FUTURE MEETINGS 

To note the dates of future meetings:

20 January 2021
10 March 2021 (final meeting of this Council)

10  EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REPORT (Pages 37 - 48)

To note an update report from Colin Chick, Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment and Infrastructure on Economic Growth issues in 
the County (includes Quarter 2 2020/21 peformance data).

Colin Chick

Membership –  Cllr Brian Robinson, Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr Kevin Cromwell (Chair), 
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Ben Evans, Cllr Kate Haigh (Vice-Chair), Cllr Klara Sudbury and 
Cllr Sajid Patel Cllr Nicky Packer, Cllr Paul McCloskey, Cllr John Murphy, Cllr Gina Blomefield and 
Cllr Simon Pickering

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior 
to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

JOINT ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Joint Environment Scrutiny Committee and Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday 23 September 2020 virtually.

PRESENT:
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Kevin Cromwell (Chair)
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Ben Evans
Cllr Kate Haigh (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Nicky Packer
Cllr Paul McCloskey
Cllr Sajid Patel

Cllr John Murphy
Cllr Gina Blomefield
Cllr Simon Pickering
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Phil Awford

Officers in attendance: Simon Excell, Colin Chick, Luisa Senft-Hayward and Orlagh 
Stoner

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Klara Sudbury and Suzanne Williams.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received.

3. LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN REVIEW 

3.1 The Chair invited Simon Excell, Lead Commissioner for Strategic 
Infrastructure, to present this item. Members were shown the attached 
PowerPoint presentation and noted the following points.

Background

3.2 Members were reminded that at a joint meeting in September 2019, both 
Committees considered and commented on, the draft Local Transport Plan 
(LTP). This draft was then signed off by Cabinet and went to public 
consultation between January and March this year.

3.3 Due to the onset of the pandemic, today’s session had to be delayed from 
July and therefore the timeline had adjusted accordingly. Today, members 
were asked to comment on the revised LTP, following comments received 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

from the public consultation. The final LTP would be presented to Cabinet in 
January 2021, with an aim for the full adoption in March 2021.

3.4 Members noted that the LTP had last been adopted in 2016 and was now 
therefore increasingly out of date with national, regional, county and local 
priorities and policies. The review needed to bring the LTP inline with these 
changes, whilst also strengthening its climate change agenda and reflecting 
the significant progress in the district local plans e.g. the Joint Core Strategy 
and Cotswold Local Plan. It was highlighted that both the county council and 
all six district councils had now declared a climate change emergency.

3.5 Slide 4 outlined the new vision and objectives for the Plan, which officers 
believed reflected national and local plans, as well as the challenges we all 
face at present. Slide 5 reminded members of the three key themes that 
emerged from scrutiny’s feedback in September 2019.

3.6 Members heard that the public consultation response was very good. 
Officers made good use of social media to publicise the consultation which 
received over 14,000 hits and the dedicated LTP webpage received 8,000 
views. In addition the team had 250 face to face discussions across the 
county and almost 500 written responses to the LTP Review. Feedback was 
analysed and themed in a three stage approach: headline categories, sub-
categories and key theme.

3.7 Slide 7 & 8 outlined the responses received from the public consultation. In 
both the open and closed questions, the respondent’s main concerns could 
be categorised into: perceived lack of travel choice, safety concerns, 
congestion, frequency of public transport, environmental impacts and the 
need for sustainable transport (walking and cycling improvements). There 
were also several comments made about the length and complexity of the 
LTP document.

Proposed changes

3.8 The Committee were informed that officers had acted on all the comments 
received from the consultation, which were outlined on slides 9 – 14. 
Members noted the following points in relation to the proposed changes:

 The document will be shortened and simplified, reduced in size by about 
one third and removed any repetition to provide a more user friendly LTP.

 A merging of the overarching vision and objectives and shaping the way 
to 2041 will become a new ‘Vision Towards 2041’ chapter.

 The overarching policy document had been shortened and strengthened. 
 The team were also in the process of developing a multi-modal transport 

model that would be made available to  and assist all district councils in 
developing their future Local Plans.

 Various new transport schemes were proposed through the consultation, 
all of which had been priority assessed by officers and resulted in eight 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

new schemes that would be added to the Plan. All new schemes 
promoted active travel choices – cycling, walking and e-scootering.

 Further clarity on the funding status of the schemes will be added, 
Members were reminded that not all schemes were currently funded, this 
was no longer a requirement of the LTP. The LTP provided the high level 
transport strategy for the county.

 A new annex will be created which includes the summary evidence base 
compiled through drafting the Plan.

 It was viewed that the public consultation will result in significant and 
positive changes for the Plan and enhance its sustainability.

Questions

General

3.9 The Committee noted a comment that due to there no longer being a need 
for all schemes to be funded before becoming part of the Plan, there was a 
concern that some projects were potentially unlikely to get funding for over 
the next 10 years or so, and they may then begin to blight other projects. An 
example was given of  the Northern Relief Road scheme having an impact 
on future redevelopment in Tewkesbury town centre. 

3.10 It was noted that to remove schemes at this stage would require another 
formal process, with further consultation and delay so this would not be 
advisable. It was however advised that the LTP was viewed as a ‘living’ 
document that will be routinely reviewed. It would therefore  be worth 
members being mindful of the long- term schemes in their area, which may 
need to be re-examined in the future if they were causing delay to short-term 
projects whilst awaiting funding. 

3.11 A member queried why this meeting for Scrutiny had not be delayed until 
January 2021 as there was concern scrutiny members did not receive the 
same information that Cabinet would in January (as per slide 2). 

3.12 It was advised that the latter part of the timeline had been delayed as 
Government announced they were due to produce a Decarbonising 
Transport strategy document later this year, which officers wanted time to 
react to within the LTP where necessary. Today’s meeting was aimed at 
feedback to the Committee the results of the public consultation and take a 
view on the proposed changes. Officers had already received a preamble to 
the Government strategy so were fairly confident they had already taken into 
account the relevant policies. It was agreed that if there were any substantial 
changes after  this meeting; officers would bring these to the Committee’s 
attention, before taking a final version to Cabinet for approval.  

3.13 It was acknowledged that the level of public engagement on this document 
was good, but noted that it was significantly lower in some areas compared 
to others. It was queried whether officers were aware of a reason for this.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

3.14 Officers assured members that the consultation had been broad across the 
whole county, and did not focus more on some areas than others so they 
were unaware of why some districts were more engaged than others. It was 
however something officers had identified and would note it for future 
consultations. 

3.15 Members noted that in the pie chart on slide 8, the section on ‘document 
specific’ which reflected 9% of responses related to the concerns on the 
document itself e.g. it was too long and needed simplifying.

3.16 Noting that the public consultation was before Covid, a member questioned 
whether there should be another chance for feedback, in light of peoples 
experience of the ‘new normal’. Members acknowledged that it was still very 
difficult to predict what the ‘new normal’ would look like. The team had been 
very busy reacting to Covid, and this had resulted in a lot of new walking and 
cycling schemes, which would be reflected in the revised Plan. It was agreed 
that the impacts of Covid should be referenced in the preamble of the LTP.

3.17 Following a question on the objective of the LTP, the Committee heard that it 
was a document that worked with partner stakeholders to influence transport, 
a strategy for transport in Gloucestershire to 2041 and beyond. The LTP was 
no longer solely a funded Plan.

3.18 In response, a member stressed that influencing transport, involved 
changing people’s behaviours and they felt the Plan was lacking ambition on 
changing behaviours, giving an example that you cannot address climate 
change by simply offering the public cycling schemes. Officers noted these 
points but felt a start to changing behaviour was enabling people to do 
something differently, e.g. giving a chance to cycle to work or use an e-
scooter.

3.19 It was queried what happened to the link road between A38 and A40 
proposal. Officers would provide further information offline to the member. It 
was advised that the Maisemore Elevation scheme was still a part of the 
LTP.

ACTION: LUISA SENFT-HAYWARD/ORLAGH STONER

3.20 A member requested that the pie chart on slide 8 was provided at a district 
level rather than the whole county.

ACTION: LUISA SENFT-HAYWARD/ORLAGH STONER

Environmental issues

3.21 It was questioned whether there had been a missed opportunity by not 
adding in a specific chapter on climate change. It was advised that the whole 
document had been strengthened in terms of climate change and stronger 
targets had been set.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

3.22 In addition a member asked why the schemes did not address, in any detail, 
their impact on carbon emissions. Officers informed that they had included 
climate impact data as far as was known, which included GCC’s ambition to 
be carbon neutral by 2050 target. It was acknowledged that further work 
needed to be done in this area to understand how we get there as a county, 
this was referenced in the LTP.

3.23 A member noted the mention of school transport in different areas of the 
Plan, but that there was no overall chapter to tie these initiatives together. It 
was advised that the LTP did not include a specific section to address school 
transport, but this forms part of many different policies, for example, air 
quality, travel safety etc. It was also part of the Thinktravel – Influencing 
Behaviour Change policy. The Thinktravel team worked closely with schools 
on developing their own travel plans.

3.24 The Committee noted that there were a few trial schemes due to be up and 
running at schools in Cheltenham, Tewkesbury and Gloucester after the half 
term break. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning offered to 
bring an update to the Committee once these had settled in. 

ACTION:   DSU

Cycling

3.25 There was a lengthy discussion regarding the prevalence of cycling during 
the pandemic. Whilst the Committee acknowledged the increase, it was also 
appreciated that in recent weeks, since the lockdown has ended, there 
appeared to be a return to pre-Covid cycle levels and resistant attitudes.

3.26 An example was given of a cycle scheme being trialled on Estcourt Road in 
Gloucester. The location was chosen to extend a safe cycling route beyond 
the newly placed London Road segregated cycle lane, as part of the 
strategic cycle route between Gloucester and Cheltenham.  In the few weeks 
that the scheme was live, there was no indication of increased traffic on the 
junction but the backlash from the local community was at such a level that 
the scheme had to be removed.

3.27 Officers felt they had reacted to the positivity around walking and cycling 
during the peak of Covid, but officers were now facing a return to resistance 
against anything taking road space away from motorists.

3.28 A member of the Committee suggested that getting local members involved 
much earlier in the new schemes, may help to manage local expectations 
and response. It may also require Council’s to be ‘braver for longer’ in order 
for schemes of this nature to remain long-term. Some driver’s sense of 
entitlement needed to be addressed whether unpopular or not. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

3.29 There was a request for an update on the Highways England Cheltenham to 
Gloucester cycle route. It was informed that it had been estimated that the 
project would cost around £10m and Highways England had agreed to put 
forward half of the money if GCC could match the other £5m. Unfortunately a 
recent bid to the LEP for funding had not been successful; the project was 
therefore still awaiting funding.

3.30 Members attention was also drawn towards the Travel by-cycle strategy that 
was launched in 2019 with an aim to link the county from Tewkesbury 
(North) all the way to Tetbury (South) via cycle routes.

(https://www.thinktravel.info/media/2092291/travel-by-cycle-around-
gloucestershire-booklet.pdf)

3.31 Both the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood and Cabinet Member 
Environment and Planning thanked the Committee for their very useful, 
construction and supportive feedback during this session. They echoed 
officer’s feelings toward the Estcourt Road cycle scheme and welcomed 
Members ongoing support if the Council was going to move forward with its 
cycle agenda.

3.32 Officers thanked the Committee for their feedback and positivity, especially 
towards the cycle schemes and echoed the urge for members to support 
officers in order for these proposals to be carried forward.

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 12:15

Page 6

https://www.thinktravel.info/media/2092291/travel-by-cycle-around-gloucestershire-booklet.pdf
https://www.thinktravel.info/media/2092291/travel-by-cycle-around-gloucestershire-booklet.pdf


- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee held 
on Wednesday 21 October 2020 virtually.

PRESENT:
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Kevin Cromwell (Chair)
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Ben Evans
Cllr Kate Haigh (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Klara Sudbury

Cllr Nicky Packer
Cllr Paul McCloskey
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr John Murphy
Cllr Gina Blomefield
Cllr Simon Pickering

Officers in attendance: Sophie Benfield, Simon Excell, Angela Presdee, Mally 
Findlater and Tim Atkins

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Colin Chick and Steve Mawson.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meetings held on 16 September 2020 were approved.

6. GOLDEN VALLEY PROJECT 

6.1 The Chair invited Tim Atkins, Managing Director for Place and Growth at 
Cheltenham Borough Council, to present this item. Members noted the 
following points:

 Back in December 2019, the project was presented at the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) to request 
funding to create a strong marketing campaign and establish a start-finish 
team to understand the economic benefits for the county.

 The work had now been completed; the following slides would update the 
Committee on the progress made.

 Hatch Regeneris undertook a robust economic report to find out what the 
existing eco-system was in the area and how this project could 
impact/benefit it. There were some powerful findings from this piece of 
work.

 It was reported that Gloucestershire had the largest concentration of 
cyber businesses in the UK outside London. Gloucestershire had 6 times 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

the normal rate as a county, and 11 times the normal rate in Cheltenham. 
There were very significant numbers for Gloucestershire and potentially 
something we had fully appreciated before now.

 It was also punching above its weight in terms of GVA per cyber business 
(slide 5)

 One of the most powerful findings was represented on slide 6 – the right 
hand side column reflected the number of new jobs generated compared 
to the national average. This was a huge reflection for Gloucestershire 
and showed it had a very mature eco system and is able to sustain rapid 
growth in this sector.

 Slide 7 showed the headline impacts if the development were to be 
delivered, in terms of economic growth, there was a potential for 12,000+ 
jobs and a GVA upwards of £800m for the Golden Valley sit alone, with 
considerable further growth countywide.

 In terms of the Government’s view on the project, slide 8 showed  a quote 
from the Digital Minister, plus the statistics on slide 9.

 In addition, our cyber growth plans had strong alignment  with the 
Government’s post Brexit ambition to be a Scientific Superpower and to 
become a global leader in this sector; this was reinforced by the 
narratives listed on slide 10. The Comprehensive Spending Review and 
Internal Review of defence and security reflect the same themes about 
innovation, science and technology.

 Gloucestershire’s role within the Western Gateway was growing and the 
more we understood about cyber, the more that role could continue to 
grow and the more influence we could have.

 The team had been working with the Department of International Trade to 
launch the project at MIPIM this March, but due to the pandemic this 
event did not go ahead so they had to rethink the strategy.

 Instead, a powerful video was put together (helped by the funding 
allocated from GEGJC last year) and there was successful virtual launch 
instead (https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/).

 Slides 19-26 explained Gloucestershire’s Value Proposition and how this 
was a compelling investment offer, which was explained through 5 key 
elements.

 The cyber eco-system in and around the county was home to some major 
names in the industry, some of which had already shown an interest in 
the project.

 The opportunities for strengthening Gloucestershire’s academia and 
talent offer was significant, linking into the existing networks and reaching 
out to other specialists in this field. There are 19 universities within a 75 
minute drive.

 The connectivity offered around the site was a very good location for a 
flagship scheme.

 The scheme had already received large investment from a number of 
partners as outlined on slide 25. This level of investment had a positive 
effect on others keenness to invest in the project.

 Slides 29-39 outlined Cheltenham’s unique selling points for this project.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

 Slide 40 informed members of the level of growth in the cyber sector in 
the past 5 years both locally and nationally.

 One of the projects selected for the recent LEP funding was in 
Cheltenham, to turn an under utilised car park into a cyber/digital 
innovation hub, a stepping stone for the scale-up at Cyber Central (slide 
41)

 Slides 42 and 44 summarised what this project meant for Gloucestershire 
as a whole and what the county had to offer.

 The work of the Cyber Leadership Board was explained on slide 43 which 
had started creating links across the county.

 A further funding proposal was proposed to help drive forward this work 
for the benefit of Gloucestershire economy via the GEGJC.

6.2 The Committee thanked Tim for the presentation on a very exciting and 
impressive project for the county.

6.3 As the scheme was based in Cheltenham, but would clearly have an 
economic impact on the whole of the county, a member queried where the 
scrutiny lay to review its progress – was it at the county council or at 
Cheltenham Borough Council.

6.4 It was advised that this was a Cheltenham driven project due to the location 
but it was very much a partnership scheme from across the county. There 
was a Joint Programme Board which involved representatives from Homes 
England, Tewkesbury Borough Council, GCC and other key stakeholders. 
The impact of the project was so significant, and funding was being allocated 
from many different partners, therefore this Joint Programme Board provided 
the governance for collective scrutiny.

6.5 A member questioned whether lifestyle impacts from the pandemic would 
change the nature of the development, e.g. with more people working at 
home. In response, the Committee were reminded that the project actually 
launched during Covid and got some quite positive reactions on what it was 
offering. As mentioned before, this sector continued to grow significantly 
because of Covid and it may be that there ends up being office space that 
was not filled, but there is still a level of demand for high quality, pioneering 
focused space for colleagues to come and work. The nature of the 
environment  it was aiming to create would attract from a collaboration and 
innovation point of view, which could not necessarily be done remotely.

6.6 On housing, it was advised that this would be part of the integrated 
development of the site, and trying to focus on the need to attract young 
people and encourage them to stay in the county. Cheltenham Borough 
Council had committed up to £200m to support delivery. In addition, there 
was ongoing engagement with a wide range of universities to strengthen 
Gloucestershire’s academic offer.

6.7 In reference to the comparison areas referred to on slide 25, a member 
highlighted that these sites were surrounded by much greater development 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

and if Gloucestershire genuinely wanted to compete on this level, it would 
need to have wider discussions with surrounding local authorities to offer 
something much bigger.

6.8 A point was made about carbon neutrality of the development. There had 
been no mention in the presentation about this, and in order to attract the big 
names in this sector, it would absolutely need to be considered. In addition, 
referencing the aim to attract young people, a recent survey of young people 
by the LEP concluded some of the most important priorities for them were: 
climate change, green spaces and the ability to get about without a car.

6.9 Officers were aware that they would not attract the level of investors they 
wanted if the development was anything less than carbon neutral, this had 
been made very clear to businesses when going out to market. It was 
acknowledged however that this was quite a challenging development in 
terms of the eco-living priorities, the planning was almost in uncharted 
waters but these points were absolutely part of the ambition. 

6.10 Finally, it was advised that the project was being overseen by multiple 
project boards and it was the Joint Partnership Board which would look at 
and bring together the wider issues. A member raised this in reference to its 
impact on local capacity such as the road network. It was noted that the 
Board would need to find a way of keeping people informed when 
addressing these issues. A further paper will be brought to the GEGJC to set 
out the next steps.

4. WORK PLAN 

4.1 The Committee discussed the following points in relation to its ongoing work 
plan:

 A member advised that they had recently attended the launch of the 
Power of 3 initiative and requested that this formed part of the social 
mobility item that was already on the future items list.

 A request for the Committee to consider the economic impact of Covid in 
rising unemployment among young people and the future of the high 
streets. It was noted that the LEP’s update to the Committee in 
November will focus on economic data and will therefore include 
employment figures and the impact of Covid on jobs in the county.

 To add an item on carbon neutral transport.
 Referencing the future item on work force development post-Covid, a 

member requested that this also considered the support of the rural and 
agri-tech sector. It was added that as members were aware, agri-tech 
was a important principle in the LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy and 
nwould therefore be able to contribute to this agenda item.

 To add an item on the economic impact of potential future pandemics / 
lockdowns.

5. DISTRICT MEMBER FEEDBACK 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Chair reminded members that this item had resulted from the Committee’s 
local meetings ‘roadshow’ and encouraged district members to feed back to their 
respective councils to create a dialogue between this Committee and the district 
councils. Going forward, it will feature as a standing item.

7. GFIRST LEP ITEM 

7.1 The Chair invited Mally Findlater, Programme Manager for the GFirst LEP, to 
present this item. The Committee noted the following points:

 The paper for today’s meeting included the same information as 
presented at September’s meeting, plus the requested additional 
information to give the full context.

 The report now included information on the local assurance framework 
which was a strong structure based on the national assurance framework 
issued by government and a rule book by which the LEP operate when 
allocating funding.

 It was reiterated that the projects were scored against the criteria in the 
local assurance framework, plus any additional requirements specified by 
Government for the particular fund.

 The ‘Getting Building Fund’ for example, placed particular importance on 
economic growth and deliverability in short timeframe (the money would 
be taken back if they did not meet the delivery).

 There was a long list of projects to begin with that were scored against 
the criteria and debated at length by the LEP Board, this was reduced to 
a list of 15 which were submitted to Government. Following negotiations, 
this was reduced to five that were allocated indicative funding,

 Examples were given of why the successful projects scored the highest:
o The Minster Innovation Exchange scored incredibly highly in terms 

of strategic fit (worked well with other investments), economic 
growth due to its wide range and sustainability low carbon aspects. 
It scored lower on risk as it was a complicated multi-agency 
project.

o The Cirencester College Applied Digital Skills Centre scored highly 
on deliverability and on offering a gap in skills for young people.

o A smaller project example that was awarded funded was the 
Cyber Incubation Units which scored well in deliverability and its 
location right next to Cyber Central.

o The Digital Innovation Farm scored very highly on strategic aims 
and also deliverability as Hartpury College had delivered very well 
in the past.

o And finally, the Construction Education Centre which was being 
delivered by KW Bell who had a strong strategic commitment to 
the Forest of Dean and delivering skills to local young people.

 In addition, the report included information on how much guidance was 
given to project promotors.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

 An example of a project that had been very close to being included for 
funding was a transport project which scored very highly on multiple 
criteria, but at the point of submission to Government, there was a 
significant funding gap which had no solution at that time. This meant that 
deliverability was not guaranteed. 

7.2 A member queried whether further details could be shared about the 
project referenced above that didn’t quite make the funding list. As the 
scheme promotor was GCC, officers in attendance at the meeting were 
happy to share further detail on this. It related to the cycle scheme 
between Cheltenham and Gloucester (along the B4063) and as members 
will be aware from previous updates, the scheme had a funding shortfall 
at the moment. Officers at GCC were still very keen on the project and 
were working hard to secure the funding for the new year.

7.3 It was added that the LEP had been lobbying in the background for this 
project and had sent a strong letter of support to Government to keep it 
on the radar. It was acknowledged the huge economic and strategic 
importance of this scheme. It will continue to work with GCC and offer its 
support in whatever way possible.

CHAIR

Meeting concluded at 15:00.

Page 12



Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee 

GHCP Presentation Modern Methods of Construction

(MMC)

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7



MMC Summary

• Long term projection of worsening skills shortage within the construction industry

• Brexit presenting further risks towards the construction workforce across the UK being 

migrant labour.

• Supporting the businesses in achieving its sustainability and carbon reduction 

agenda

• Homes England driver to introduce MMC through current partnering arrangements

• Contribute towards the desired New Homes outputs within Business plans

• Local Authorities drivers to embrace MMC through their Climate Emergency & 

housing delivery agenda’s

• Cited benefits for the MMC; increase outputs, reduce delivery timeframes, increased 

quality, increased EPC, reduced waste, less deliveries and disruption to surrounding 

communities.

• Standardisation of designs to achieve the desired business financial returns through 

an MMC appraisal approach

P
age 14



Mindset Change
From this

➢ Legacy perceptions of Modular 

➢ We can continue to deliver through 
traditional routes only

➢ LA planning hesitation

➢ Funding/charging issues

➢ Construction skills shortage

➢ Average 18% wastage on trad

➢ Carbon reduction targets

➢ Quality control isn’t important

➢ Defects ave 10 per plot

➢ Lack of warranty/guarantee

➢ Standard energy performance EPC C

To this
✓ Mindset change

✓ Deliver 3 trial sites (100 units)

✓ Agree a standard design principle

✓ LA support

✓ Securitisation - EUV/MVSTT

✓ Reduced labour reliance 

✓ 2%-6% wastage

✓ Low carbon build (env profiling)

✓ ISO 9001 accreditation (minimum)

✓ Defect ave 1.5 per plot

✓ NHBC/LABC support

✓ Enhanced energy performance EPC B+ 

P
age 15



Types of MMC

P
age 16



Types of MMC

• Volumetric construction

Three-dimensional units which are fully fitted out ‘Off Site’

• Pods

Used in conjunction with another construction method e.g bathroom

• Panelised systems

Panels of timber or steel fitted constructed with Structural insulated 
panel

• Sub-assemblies and components

Larger cassette components pre manufactured – Roofing/Floors 

• Site-based MMC.

Innovative methods of construction used on site e.g Thin joint blockwork

P
age 17



Factory production and quality 

control

Homes assembled in 

controlled conditions

Factories can produce around 3,500 

per year at peak. Quality 

checkpoints at every stage of the 

process to make sure homes conform 

to design and building control. 

Once the structure is finished, 

insulate and fitout:

• internal walls and floor coverings

• surface finishes

• plumbing and sanitary ware

• electrical circuits and sockets

• kitchen and bathroom units and 

fittings.

P
age 18



Paul St (Norvills Brown Field)

Bishops Cleeve
St Stephens Gloucester

St Aldates Gloucester 

Gloucestershire Delivery - Timber Frame and SIPS

P
age 19



Black Dog Way - Steel Frame and SIPS

P
age 20



Staverton - Timber Volumetric

P
age 21



Evaluated MMC products types from the MMC category definition 

Developed a model and evaluation tool to assess each product type on their individual 
merit:

➢ Form of construction – eg CLT, LGSF, SIPS 
Volumetric

➢ Lifecycle costs

➢ Turnkey option or supply only ➢ Warranties/Guarantees – NHBC, LABC, 
Checkmate

➢ Cost m2 ➢ Energy Performance

➢ Factory location – logistics ➢ Ability to charge EUV/MVSTT

➢ Track history ➢ Sustainability

➢ Financial stability ➢ Procurement (routes to market)

➢ Archetypes – Designs (NDSS) ➢ Innovation

➢ MMC vs Traditional Build specification ➢ Delivery Performance

MMC evaluation framework

P
age 22



Evaluation criterion

By creating an evaluation process, it allows the assessment metrics to be changed 
and updated to suit the business requirements and external environment.

As an example the assessment can been based on:

• Cost m2

• Sustainability

• EPC (minimum B)

• Lifecycle cost

P
age 23



MMC – Quality Assurance 

• BOPAS – Build offsite Property Assurance scheme

Provides confidence that the construction system is fit for 
purpose 

• NHBC – National House-Building Council

Assessed, reviewed and accepted nearly 50 MMC systems

• Checkmate

Warranty cover for modern methods of construction (MMC)

• LABC - Local Authority Building Control 

Warranty practice scheme for MMC

P
age 24



Homes England - What the fund will deliver

• Homes England commissioned its own research study into MMC 
launched May 2020

• At least 25% MMC in partners programmes for the new funding round.

• Housing secretary Robert Jenrick said he was making modern methods 
of construction (MMC) “central” to the government’s new affordable 
homes programme in order to deliver “better and more sustainable 
homes”. 

• The fund places significant focus and investment in increasing the 
uptake and development of MMC – this is crucial to tackle the 
productivity, skills and materials challenges faced by the housebuilding 
industry and to drive improvements in quality, safety and sustainability

• HE want to understand the delivery constraints to using MMC and are 
keen to hear from partners. 

P
age 25



Homes England

P
age 26



Future Considerations

• Registered Providers are delivering differing MMC on a piecemeal 
approach, should this be standardised?

• Could creating a Gloucestershire ‘Partnership’ approach benefit wider 
MMC delivery at scale?

• LA Planners & Homes England are crucial to support MMC delivery, how 
do we get MMC into Local plans?

• How can we better engage with members/ parish councillors etc.

• If MMC is only more cost efficient at scale, how do we get it on the larger 
strategic sites that are coming forward?

• Can we get MMC into the mainstream developments in the PLC 
housebuilder world, if so how?

• Will MMC only become mainstream if the ‘general public’ get on board?

• It tends to be the RP sector(s) that ‘try’ this stuff out, what’s the incentive 
for the PLC right now? 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Joint Economic Scrutiny Committee 
18TH November 2020 

 
Report: Gloucestershire Economy Update 
  
Presented by: David Owen, CEO, GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership 
 
Introduction 
 
GFirst LEP monitors economic data to inform its activities. The current senior research manager (Jute Blackmon) 
works closely with the Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) team to ensure consistency of information, and that 
data is available to key stakeholders. This role was introduced in 2019 to support the development of the Local 
Industrial Strategy, and the associated evidence base.  
 
The data contained within this briefing paper draws on a range of the latest available published information relating 
to Gloucestershire’s economy and from a number of different sources. This includes the Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) for the latest available GVA and Claimant Count numbers, HMRC for Furlough and Self Employment Income 
Scheme figures and the British Business Bank for business loan totals.  
 
Local job posting numbers have been taken from the labour market tool EMSI, which delivers real time access to job 
vacancies from a comprehensive range of sources including job boards, employer sites, newspapers, public agencies 
etc. Data extraction and analysis technologies mine and code data from each job listing to provide analysis on 
industries, occupations, skills and qualifications. However, the tool will inevitably not capture all vacancies. 
 
Where more information is available, the relevant links have been detailed within the report, such as the monthly 
Unemployment Bulletin produced by Gloucestershire County Council which provides a detailed district overview. 
 
 
Key headlines: 
 
 

• Total GVA for Gloucestershire estimated to be £16.5 Billion, based on the latest ONS figures published in 
December 2019. There are currently no local datasets available that take into account Covid and the impact 
on the local economy. 

 

• The Claimant Count for Gloucestershire has dropped very slightly down from 5.0% in August to 4.9% in 
September. 

 

• Youth unemployment - the number young people (18-24) claiming benefits in Gloucestershire is currently 
3,725 which is 19.6% of the total working age claimants (16-64) in Gloucestershire.  

 

• Job posting numbers continue to increase with the number of postings for September at 
around 18,705 which is 19.9% lower when compared to September 2019. Both the Forest of Dean and 
Tewkesbury have seen an increase in the number of job posts when compared to the same month last year. 

 

• The total number of workers furloughed in Gloucestershire as at the 31st August was 30,700. 
 

• The second phase of the Self Employment Income Scheme grant has now seen a total of 21,300 claims 
made in Gloucestershire up to 30th September, with a take up rate of 62% of those potentially eligible and 
totalling £55.9 million. 

 

• The total value in loans offered to businesses in Gloucestershire, as part of the Coronavirus Business 
Interruption Loan Scheme (CBILS) and Bounce Back Loan Scheme, now stands at £483 million. 

 
 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_five-foundations-of-productivity_evidence-report_2019-updated.pdf


Gloucestershire GVA 
 
Gross Value Added (GVA) is the measure of the value of goods and services produced in an area, industry or sector, 
which can be used to measure the value of the economy. 
 
This data is published annually and the latest available data from ONS is for 2018, which was published in December 
2019, we are expecting the 2019 data to be published in December. Based on current ONS timescales, we would not 
expect to see GVA for 2020 until December 2021, however ONS are aware of the urgency for Local Authorities to see 
what impact Covid has had on local economies and so there is a possibility some data may be released earlier. 
 
The below table shows the £16.5 Billion GVA (2018) total for Gloucestershire in all industries, alongside the district 
split of the total. The table also displays GVA for 2017 and 2016, in addition to a trend line based on the last three 
years. 
 

 
 
In 2018 the Services Sector accounted for £12.5 Billion of Gloucestershire’s GVA total. 
 
 
September Claimant Count 
 
The Claimant Count is a measure of the number of people who are unemployed and claiming benefits. 
 
Latest figures for September show that Gloucestershire has seen a small decrease in the Claimant Rate to 4.9% from 
the August figure of 5.0% (the value is expressed as a proportion of residents aged 16-64). The September total now 
stands at 18,985 compared to the August figure of 19,155 which is a monthly decrease of 170. However, there has 
been a small rise in the approximate number of persons claiming in Gloucester (25) and Stroud (40). 
 
The September figure for the South West is 5.3%, England is 6.6% and the UK figure is 6.5%.   
 
As of September 2020, there were 3,725 young people (18-24) claiming Job Seekers Allowance and Universal Credit 
who were not in work, this represents 19.6% of total working age claimants. In January 2020 this figure was 1,445.  
 
The below table gives a breakdown of those 18-24 by district. 
 

Area 
September claimants 

(18-24)  
Proportion of total 

working age claimants 

Cheltenham 755 19.40% 

Cotswold 405 18.70% 

Forest of Dean 520 20.80% 

Gloucester 990 19.50% 

Stroud 595 19.60% 

Tewkesbury 460 19.80% 

Gloucestershire Total 3,725 19.60% 

District 2016 2017 2018 Trend

Cheltenham 2,638              2,726              2,946              

Cotswold 3,177              3,224              3,565              

Forest of Dean 1,284              1,445              1,502              

Gloucester 3,154              3,258              3,226              

Stroud 2,502              2,573              2,642              

Tewkesbury 2,360              2,769              2,656              

Gloucestershire 15,115           15,995           16,537           

GVA (£millions) by district - all industries

Page 30



The below graph shows the overall claimant rate for September 2020 in Gloucestershire. 
 

 
 
 
The below shows the current claimant rate for Gloucestershire at 4.9%, compared with all six districts, the South 
West and United Kingdom. The rate for Gloucestershire has been below that of the UK and South West for the past 
12 months.  
 
 

 

Page 31



More information on the Claimant Count can be found on Gloucestershire County Council’s monthly publications, 
which can be found on the following page: https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/economy/unemployment/ 

 
EMSI job posting numbers 
 
Note: Job posting numbers are based on snapshot data taken on the 7th October, numbers are provisional and subject to change. The 
information is continually being cleaned and validated, but job posting numbers provide a good indication on how the job market is performing. 

 
Job posting numbers have been increasing over the past few months with the number of postings for September at 
around 18,705, however this is still 19.9% lower when compared to September 2019. Both the Forest of Dean and 
Tewkesbury have seen an increase in the number of job posts when compared to the same month last year. 
  
The below table gives a district overview of total jobs posted in September 2020 when compared to September 
2019. 

Number of unique job postings by district    

September 2020 2019 2020 
% comparison 

to 2019 

   

 
 

Cheltenham 6,225  4,364  -29.9 
  

Cotswold 2,521  2,273  -9.8 
  

Forest of Dean 624  823  31.9 
  

Gloucester 8,420  6,513  -22.6 
  

Stroud 3,519  2,636  -25.1 
  

Tewkesbury 2,031  2,096  3.2 
  

  23,340  18,705  -19.9 
  

 
Below displays the number of job postings by district for the past twelve months, which clearly shows that 
Cheltenham and Gloucester have seen the largest decline, but overall have had more job postings throughout. 
Gloucester appears to have the steepest recovery with regards to job postings over the past three months, when 
compared to other areas. Tewkesbury is now close to the peak in job postings it saw in October 2019 and February 
2020, while the Forest of Dean is close to the peak it saw in March 2020. 
 

 

Page 32

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/economy/unemployment/


Furloughed workers 
 
The total number of workers furloughed in Gloucestershire as at the 31st August was 30,700. In the below graph you 
can see that Gloucester has the most employments furloughed and the lowest take up rate, whereas the Forest of 
Dean has the smallest number furloughed and the highest take up rate. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Below figures compare the latest furlough statistics for Gloucestershire against England and the South West 
 
 
  

Furloughed employments as at 31st August 2020 

District 
Employments 

furloughed 
Eligible 

employments 
Take-up-rate 

Gloucestershire  30,700             292,200  11% 

South West 243,500          2,517,100  10% 

England 2,647,500        25,577,800  10% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



Self Employment Income Scheme 
 
 
The first phase of the Self Employment Income Scheme saw a total of 25,400 claims made in Gloucestershire up to 
the 31st July, which had a take up rate of 75% of those potentially eligible and totalling £76.8 million. The second 
phase of the scheme has so far seen 21,300 claims made in Gloucestershire up to the 30th September, with a take up 
rate of 62% and totalling £55.9 million. 
  
 
 
The below graph shows the take up rate and average value of claims for each district and Gloucestershire, compared 
to the South West and England. 
 
 
  

 
  
 
For information 

• The first grant, for which applications closed on 13th July 2020, was based on 80% of their trading profits and capped at £7,500 in 
total. 

• The second grant is worth 70% of their average monthly trading profits, paid out in a single instalment covering 3 months' worth of 
profits, and capped at £6,570 in total 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CBILS) and Bounce Back Loan Scheme 
 
Recent data published by the British Business Bank shows the total value in loans offered to businesses in 
Gloucestershire, as part of the Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CBILS) and Bounce Back Loan 
Scheme, now stands at £483 million 
 
The below graph shows the total loan values offered by type for each of our six Gloucestershire districts, which 
shows a low uptake of the Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme in the Forest of Dean compared to other 
areas. 
 

 
 
More information on this dataset can be viewed on the British Business Bank website: 
https://www.british-business-bank.co.uk/british-business-bank-support-schemes-deliver-almost-62bn-of-loans-to-
smaller-businesses/ 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
This paper is for information only. 
 
If you require further information please email: Jute Blackmon, Senior Research Manager 
jute.blackmon@gfirstlep.com 

Page 35

https://www.british-business-bank.co.uk/british-business-bank-support-schemes-deliver-almost-62bn-of-loans-to-smaller-businesses/
https://www.british-business-bank.co.uk/british-business-bank-support-schemes-deliver-almost-62bn-of-loans-to-smaller-businesses/


This page is intentionally left blank



Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Scrutiny Committee Report

November 2020

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.  

1.0 Decisions

1.1      Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due:
 The proposed adoption of the ULEV (Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles) Strategy and the 

procurement and installation of Electric Vehicle Chargers across Gloucestershire. 
(Between 16 November 2020 and 21 December 2020)

 Gloucestershire County Council’s partnership agreement with Gloucester City Council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council in relation to the Joint 
Core Strategy (Between 3rd August – 31st December 2020)

 Proposed adoption of the Gloucestershire Local Development Guide 2020 (27 January 
2021)

1.2 Pending Items not yet published on the Forward Plan:
 Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy Annual Report & Action Plan 
 M5 Junction 9 

2.0 Highways 

2.1 COVID19 Response
 We are working closely with partner organisations to ensure preparations are in place 

to provide additional resilience in highway operations and winter/emergency response 
over the coming months, and in the face of the national lockdown.  The main focus will 
be on maintaining staffing levels to carry out emergency services.  

 COVID19 testing sites in the county have been provided with supplies of bagged salt 
and locations have been aligned with the existing gritting network, in order to provide 
support through the winter season. 

2.2 M5 Junction 10 
 GDA signed with Homes England on 16th October for a maximum sum of £249.131m.  

This is a significant step forward.
 Non-statutory public consultation running from 14th October – 25th November
 Cabinet approved the use of CPO for land acquisition should it be required.

2.3 Highways Contracts
 Term maintenance/Professional Services - operating with some limited impact from 

COVID19.  Annual programme of footway surfacing and surface dressing now 
complete.  Performance on cyclical maintenance and defect repair remains above 
target.  Ability to work collaboratively with all teams remotely remains challenging.

 Structural maintenance - delivery now ahead of schedule for 20/21 following concerted 
efforts to recover time lost due to COVID19 impacts. The website shows the current 

Page 37

Agenda Item 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34751&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34751&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32367&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32801&Opt=0


schedule plus the interactive map for 20/21 works.  Now moving towards the final year 
(21/22) of the additional investment period.

 Street lighting – delivery is largely business as usual. Skanska infrastructure business 
up for sale which will likely mean a novation of the street lighting contract to another 
provider – more detail to follow as it becomes available.

 Highways Skills Academy – work continues to support apprenticeships across 
Gloucestershire Highways with those already in place (over 15) and two new 
apprentices have recently been appointed to gain experience in the Major Projects 
team.

2.4 Highways Delivery
 Winter readiness – our preparations for winter are complete, with dry gritting runs 

completed last week – including 7 brand new gritters added to the fleet to replace 7 
obsolete vehicles. Salt deliveries are complete. We are making contingency 
arrangements to ensure cover for this service if we are severely impacted by 
COVID19, including mutual aid arrangements with neighbouring authorities and 
contracts.

 Depots/property – 20/21 funding from MTFS for land acquisition for replacement 
depot, additional MTFS bid for works to Cirencester Depot where structural failure of 
outer building has occurred.  Likely to be delayed because of response to COVID19.

 Ash die back programme – works proceeding well to fully utilise the £0.5m funding on 
addressing ash die back in 20/21.  Significant tree removal works now being 
undertaken in target areas, and work progressing on the parallel works for 
replacement trees which will be aligned with the wider Council strategy for tree 
planting.  Plans being made to enable the proactive work on removing diseased ash 
trees to continue in 21/22.

 Public rights of way work remains very busy responding to increased users during the 
COVID19 lockdown period.

2.5 Walking/Cycling Response
 Emergency Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 bid submitted for £10.5m – outcome from 

DfT is awaited.  Priority within bid is the progression of a cycle route between 
Cheltenham and Gloucester via the B4063.

2.6 A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse)
 Construction substantially complete.

2.7 A38 Canal Bridges, Whitminster
 Works ongoing but on track to complete in November 2020.
 Following completion of the roundabout works, further works to connect the canal 

either side will be progressed.
 Cotswold Canal Trust and SDC successful in lottery bid for £8.9m, 4.5 miles of canal, 

(opening Thrupp through to Sharpness canal at Saul Junction) the funding will see 
huge benefits in terms of the economy, leisure, community, health, heritage and the 
environment, including the creation of 21 hectares of biodiversity land, planting 30,000 
trees and shrubs, generating additional spending of £5.5 million per year in the local 

Page 38



economy, bringing health benefits estimated at £8 million a year, preserving the canal 
archives from the 1730s and involving up to 500 extra volunteers. GCC are a partner in 
its delivery.

2.8 West Cheltenham / Cyber £22M
 Work has now started on site for Phases 1 and 2, including the demolition of two 

properties adjacent to Arle Court roundabout.
 The contract for Phases 3 and 4 has been awarded.
 Ongoing issue re-timing / extent of Highways England’s A40 / M5 ‘safety critical’ works 

and delays associated with COVID-19, which will mean the original planned 
completion date will be delayed.

3.0 Community & Infrastructure 

3.1 DfT Emergency Active Travel Fund – Tranche 1
 London Road cycle route: final sections of green surfacing being laid and parking 

enforcement has started, especially near takeaways. Positive feedback from cycling 
groups and university. 

 Response sent to petitioners of 102-118 London Road, most of whom have private 
rear parking. We have provided dedicated bays in Denmark Road and are making 
lighting improvements to Royal Lane to improve security. 

3.2 ITU Public and School Transport
 Following a very busy start to the autumn term home to school transport has settled 

down. ITU staff continue to work closely with schools and bus operators to ensure that 
protective measures are in place and to manage COVID-19 risks. Around 30 extra 
buses have been added to the network, which has ensured that sufficient vehicles are 
place to meet capacity where it is required.

 Public transport services have returned to 100% of their pre-COVID timetables and 
passenger levels have been rising steadily to 40-60% of earlier levels. We have been 
using government funding to support bus operators with offsetting lost fare revenue 
and we continue to provide them with additional concessionary fares support.

 School and public transport services will continue to operate during the second 
lockdown.

3.3 E-scooters
 In October we launched a 12 month e-scooter trial in Cheltenham and in Gloucester. 

Demand has exceeded expectations and our operator, Zwings, has engaged 
constructively with the police, district councils and representatives of vulnerable 
groups to adopt extra measures, including incentives, to encourage responsible use. 
These measures have not been in place in other areas where issues have been 
reported.

Page 39



3.4 School Streets
 The ThinkTravel team has launched streets pilots at two primary schools in 

Tewkesbury and Cheltenham. We have agreed to provide interim travel support to 
Kingsholm Primary School which has asked to defer its School Street until next year. 
School Streets aim to give priority to families choosing to walk, scoot or cycle; to 
reduce traffic congestion and pollution; to encourage an active lifestyle for children and 
families; and to create a safer, cleaner environment for the whole community. Leaflets 
have been distributed to schools and local residents with details of the schemes and 
signposting them to a travel survey where they can give us their feedback.

3.5 Highways Development Management
 In the first nine months of 2020 the number of statutory planning consultations handled 

by the HDM team averaged 194 per month. This is 11.5% higher than in the same 
period in 2018, and 7 % higher than the same period in 2019. 

3.6 Network Management
 Since April the Streetworks team has been busy implementing a new Permit Scheme 

in Gloucestershire. This aims to manage disruption caused by roadworks and utility 
excavations in the highway. Despite the challenges of COVID restrictions the team has 
been able to recruit additional staff and train them on the new Street Manager system 
and permit regulations.

3.7 Sustainability
 In October Cabinet gave its support to Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership’s 

Tree Strategy, recognising the significant potential of tree planting as part of our 
Climate Change Action Plan. 

3.8 Pavements Motion 787
 The following table shows the recent spend on footways across the County. The 

figures originally reported to the Highways Advisory Group, and then the Scrutiny 
Committee did not include either minor works carried out from the depots, or works 
which were part of our major projects – such as the works on Metz Way, and 
Elmbridge Court.

Year Footway maintenance 
programme

All footway works including 
major projects and minor 
works

2018-19 £725k £2.7m
2019-20 £778k £2.79m
2020-21 £2.8m £4.43m

 There has been a major investment in the maintenance of the footway network in 
2020/21 using extra funds that have been made available (£1.5M). This may increase 
further through the year as additional spend is made at a local level.  Several of our 
major projects include improvements to footways. The focus on active travel and 
health and wellbeing, post COVID19 is likely to lead to increased use of footways, and 
a potential of additional investment in the area by central government.

Page 40



4.0 Strategic Infrastructure

4.1 B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester
 Highways England (HE) are currently progressing their delayed major cycle scheme 

between Cheltenham and Gloucester, with GCC as a key partner. This project will 
need to link into the under construction GCC £22M transport improvement scheme to 
the west of Cheltenham. GCC officers have decided to take over the detailed design of 
this project, given the HE delays. This will have the key advantage of directly linking 
the project to the emerging £22M West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme. 
A bid was recently submitted to the GFirst LEP for £5M towards this scheme, but this 
bid was not successful. 

4.2 M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch)
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the 

DfT in January 2020;
 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should 

progress to the next stage;
 This is to progress to the Outline Business Case – the cost of which is likely to be 

£2M-£3M – part of the funding will come from the approved £4M GCC funding for 
‘business case development’ in 2020/21;

 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and 
Tewkesbury BC due to the links to the ‘garden town’. 

4.3 Improved rail connectivity
 Rail Strategy published March 2020;
 This will now feed into the emerging review of the Local Transport Plan, which has 

recently been subject to a public consultation – the results of which are currently being 
analysed.

4.4 Digital connectivity
 Cabinet considered and approved the latest, revised Fastershire Broadband Strategy 

2019-2022 in December 2019;
 This will now be implemented with immediate effect, with a view to securing solutions 

for ‘the final 3%’. 

4.5 A417 Missing Link
 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019;
 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019;
 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, 

TBC and GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019;
 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding 

and should progress to DCO later this year;
 Various issues, including National Trust (NT) withdrawing their support for some 

aspects of the scheme, have resulted in a need for the scheme to be redesigned. This 
will lead to a delay of 8-12 months to the scheme’s timetable. The Leader has taken 
this up with NT. 

Page 41



 The revised proposals are subject to a public consultation, which started on 12th 
October 2020. An officer response will be sent by the deadline of 12th November 2020. 

4.6 GSWB / Llanthony Road
 Planning permission granted April 2019;
 Ongoing negotiations with landowners / landlords re- 14 plots; contract now agreed 

with City Business Centre, work progressing well in relocation for businesses within 
this site

 The ‘virtual’ CPO Public Inquiry is now due to start on 24th November 2020.

4.7 Local Transport Plan (LTP)
 Adopted in 2016;
 Currently being reviewed;
 Draft LTP (pre- public consultation) agreed at 20th December 2019 Cabinet;
 Public consultation took place 16th January – 26th March 2020;
 The results of the public consultation are currently being analysed;
 GCC Cabinet will consider the final revised LTP in January 2021, before proposed 

adoption at Full Council in March 2021.

4.8 Minerals Local Plan
 The Plan has now been adopted. 

4.9 Chepstow Transport Improvements
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options;
 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress the Business Case;
 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K 

(2020/21) towards Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study.  

4.10 Cinderford 
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of 

phase one of the road;
 FoDDC aiming to apply to themselves (via a Section 73 amendment) to vary the 

existing planning permission later in 2020;
 Until planning and funding is in place, no further action for GCC. 

4.11 Local Plans / JCS 
 Review of JCS now underway following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which 

ended in January 2019;
 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. 

Significant officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- 
the significant proposed development at Sharpness. Another SDC consultation is 
currently underway with additional possible housing sites, which will be responded to 
in December 2020.

 Cotswold Local Plan – Adopted in August 2018;
 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 

2019. FoDDC are currently consulting on a ‘preferred option’, with comments invited 
by 29th January 2021. 

Page 42



5.0 Libraries & Registration

5.1 Libraries
 Following the recent Government announcement and in line with new regulations, 

Libraries will be closing to public browsing with effect from Thursday 5th November 
2020.  Libraries will continue to offer their ‘Off the Shelf’, ‘Reserve and Collect’ and 
‘Ring and Read’ services in line with Government legislation.  There will also be limited 
public PC access for essential use.

5.2 Registration 
 Following the recent Government announcement all wedding & civil partnership 

ceremonies are being suspended from Thursday 5th November to 1st December 2020 
(inclusive).  Face to face birth appointments will continue, together with essential 
notice of marriage appointments.  Group citizenship ceremonies will also be 
suspended for the period.

6.0 Waste Management 

 The announcement of a second national lockdown to reduce the spread of Covid-19 is 
expected to have limited impact on waste management services. Collections by district 
councils, and county council treatment, processing, and disposal operations should all 
continue to function. This includes Household Recycling Centres (HRCs), which will 
remain open with existing controls (particularly the appointment booking system) 
remaining in place.

 The HRCs switched to their winter opening hours on 25th October. Pyke Quarry HRC 
also reverted to six day opening (having been open seven days a week to help meet 
summer demand). The 10am till 4pm opening means that fewer booking appointments 
are available each day. There is a risk that waiting times for an appointment will 
initially increase, although the number of visitors to HRC sites does naturally reduce 
over the winter months. Waiting times will be kept under review. The  waiting times for 
an appointment to visit by car the week before and after the hours change is shown 
below:

Site Waiting time (as of Mon 19th 
Oct)

Waiting time (as of Mon 2nd 
Nov)

Fosse Cross 2 days 3 days
Hempsted 1 day 4 days
Oak Quarry 2 days 3 days
Pyke Quarry 8 days 10 days
Wingmoor 1 day 3 days

 The hourly throughput of vehicles at Pyke Quarry was increased (by a further eight 
cars per hour) to help reduce the impact of the shorter opening hours. A number of “no 
shows” had been noticed at this site with the number of appointments booked being 
higher than the number of visitors recorded on site. 

Page 43



 The Gloucestershire EfW completed its annual maintenance shutdown between 26th 
September and 11th October. Works were completed to schedule and District council 
waste deliveries were unaffected, with the bunker able to store the waste delivered 
during the outage period.  

 The new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership met (virtually) for the first 
time on 1st October. Cllr Richard Cook of Gloucester City was appointed Chair with Cllr 
Jim Mason of Tewkesbury B.C appointed vice-chair. The main items of business were 
plans for the development of a new “Resources and Waste Strategy” for 
Gloucestershire and a new partnership communications plan. The first of its 
communications campaigns was launched on 21st September. The “Waste Less, 
Recycle More” campaign included the delivery of a leaflet to homes across 
Gloucestershire encouraging people to reduce food waste in particular, but also 
highlighted the other recycling services provided by the county and district councils.

 Plans for the temporary closure of the Fosse Cross HRC in November for some six 
weeks for groundwork and drainage repairs have been put on hold. 

 Invitations to tender for the council’s Food Waste Treatment Contract have been 
issued, with the deadline for submissions being 2nd December 2020. New contract 
arrangements need to be in place by 1st October 2021. An eight year contract term is 
being offered, with an option to extend by up to two years. A revenue growth bid has 
been made for the new contract. 

7.0 Employment and Skills 

7.1 Adult Education Service
 AES’s contribution to the local skills support for economic recovery has been drafted 

and is being finalised for sharing with the GAB and stakeholders. This should help raise 
the profile of Service and stimulate further discussion with District Councils and 
community groups.  This will help with further collaboration over the use of Adult 
Education Budget (AEB) with local colleges.

 Since the implementation of the new staffing structure (commenced 1st September), 
good progress is being made with staff being embedded into new roles. The transition 
from old to new is progressing very well despite COVID-19 related challenges. An 
internal full review of our current processes and procedures is underway to enable the 
Service to continue making improvements (streamlining, efficiency gains and cost 
savings).

 Online learning remains in place for community learning, skills and apprenticeship 
provision and will continue (alongside face-to-face delivery) as a means of dealing with 
the second lockdown. It is likely that longer-term the Service will retain more of a 
blended learning approach combining online and face-to-face learning, although this 
remains challenging with community learning but plans are underway to gradually 
provide more f2f delivery for those learners who are most deprived. 

- REPORT END - 

 

Page 44

https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/media/2101190/gcc_2998-recycle-more-waste-less-leaflet_web-aw.jpg


1

P
age 45



2

P
age 46



3

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Final 21.10.20

	7 Modern Methods of Housing Construction
	8 GFirst LEP Item
	10 Executive Directors Report
	Economic Growth Scrutiny Q2 20.21


